
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 1234 MARKET STREET IN THE 17TH FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM AND 
IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC. YOU WILL NEED VALID IDENTIFICATION TO ENTER THE BUILDING. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SUBMISSION OF PUBLIC COMMENTS ARE LOCATED 
ON THE PAGES FOLLOWING THE AGENDA 

AGENDA 
I. Roll Call

II. Approval of Minutes of the Meetings of March 22, 2025 and April 8, 2025

III. Executive Director’s Report

IV. Administrative Matters

A. Authorization for Purchase of Insurance
The purpose of this resolution is to authorize payment for the purchase of commercial general
liability insurance covering the Land Bank’s properties for May 1, 2025 – April 30, 2026 Term.

B. Authorization of Spending Authority to Acquire Tax Delinquent Properties
The purpose of this resolution is to authorize the Land Bank to expend funds to acquire tax-
delinquent properties at Municipal Tax Lien Sheriff Sales.

C. Interagency Transfer
1. The properties below are proposed for transfer to the Philadelphia Housing Authority

(PHA) for disposition, reuse and/or management by the PHA, specifically for the
development of affordable housing in the Fifth (5th) and Eighth (8th) Council Districts.

• 1400-20* N. 8th Street (CD 5)

• 92*, 96 and 98* Collom Street; 5128* Wakefield Street (CD 8)
(* denotes properties being transferred by the City of Philadelphia or the Philadelphia
Redevelopment Authority to the Land Bank)

2. REMOVED The property below is proposed for transfer to the Philadelphia Housing
Development Corporation (PHDC) for disposition, reuse and/or management by the
PHDC, specifically for the preservation of gardens and open spaces.
• 5234* Walnut Street (CD 3) (* denotes property being transferred by the City of

Philadelphia to the Land Bank)

AGENDA 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MONTHLY MEETING 

TUESDAY, MAY 13, 2025 – 10:00 AM 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 1 of 126



 

 

 

D. Amendments to Approved Dispositions  
Amendment to Resolution No. 2023-40, adopted by the Board on September 12, 2023, to revise the 
number of units developed from twenty-two (22) to sixteen units (16) and increase the maximum  
sales price for the sixteen (16) units from $250,000 at 80% AMI to $275,000 at 80% AMI, due to 
difficulty selling 2-bedroom units, rising construction costs and increased compliance costs related to 
the recent implementation of new City regulations.  

• 1811, 2114 and 2123 Fernon Street; 1930 and 1932 S. Norwood Street; 1629, 1642, 1648 and 
1652 Point Breeze Avenue; 1824 S. 20th Street; 1835 S. 22nd Street (CD 2)  

 
V. Property Dispositions 

A. Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) 
1. REMOVED The properties below are proposed for disposition to BVG S Philadelphia AH, LLC 

to develop ten (10) single-family homes in the Second (2nd) Council District. Each unit will be 
two (2) stories and contain three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms, with a finished 
basement. The approximate square footage ranges from 1,365 SF to 1,680 SF. They will be 
sold to households with incomes at or below 80% of AMI for a maximum sales price of 
$280,000. All homes will be eligible for the Neighborhood Preservation Initiative’s Turn the 
Key program. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition 
policy. An EOP plan will apply to this project. The home fits within the context of the 
neighborhood. 
• 1508 and 1509 S. Cleveland Street; 1343 S. Colorado Street; 1808 Fernon Street; 2024 

and 2026 Gerritt Street; 2635 Latona Street; 1700 S. Ringgold Street; 1932 Watkins 
Street; 2603* Wilder Street (CD 2) (* denotes property being transferred by the City of 
Philadelphia to the Land Bank) 

2. REMOVED The properties below are proposed for disposition to Burg Properties LLC dba VB 
Homes LLC, to develop nine (9) single-family homes in the Seventh (7th) Council District. Each 
unit will be two (2) stories and contain three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms, without a 
basement. The approximate square footage is 1,100 SF. They will be sold to households with 
incomes at or below 100% of AMI for a maximum sales price of $280,000. All homes will be 
eligible for the Neighborhood Preservation Initiative’s Turn the Key program. The application 
was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. An EOP plan will apply to this 
project. The home fits within the context of the neighborhood. 
• 2047, 2128, 2132, 2142, 2146, 2152, 2230, 2234 and 2238 N. 3rd Street (CD 7)  

3. The properties below are proposed for disposition to Civetta Property Group, LLC to develop 
twenty-three (23) single-family homes in the Eighth (8th) Council District.  The approximate 
square footage is 1,375 SF. The units are composed of (A) nineteen (19) two-story units 
containing three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms with a finished basement; (B) one (1) 
two-story unit with a porch containing three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms without a 
basement; (C) one (1) three-story unit containing three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms 
without a basement; (D) two (2) three-story units with a porch containing three (3) bedrooms 
and two (2) bathrooms without a basement. They will be sold to households with incomes at 
or below 100% of AMI for a maximum sales price of $280,000. All homes will be eligible for 
the Neighborhood Preservation Initiative’s Turn the Key program. The application was 
unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. An EOP plan will apply to this 
project. The home fits within the context of the neighborhood.  

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 2 of 126



 

 

 

 
• 3127* and 3130* N. Bancroft Street; 3108 N. Broad Street; 3142, 3148, 3152*, 3156* and 

3157* N. Carlisle Street; 3123 and 3131* N. Chadwick Street; 1412* W. Clearfield Street; 
2737, 2935* and 2953 N. Hicks Street; 1709*, 1711* and 1713* W. Lippincott Street; 
3110* and 3116* N. Rosewood Street; 2941* N. Sydenham Street; 3106* and 3141* N. 
15th Street; 3035* N. 16th Street (CD 8) (* denotes properties being transferred by the City 
of Philadelphia to the Land Bank) 

 
B. Side/Rear Yards 

The property below is proposed for conveyance to the following individual applicant as a side 
yard; the applicant owns and resides in the adjacent home. The property will be subject to a 30-
year mortgage and permanently restricted for use as a side yard. 
• 2847 Boudinot Street (CD 7) – Cindy Xuan Ho 

VI. Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

VII. Adjournment 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 3 of 126



FROM: Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Senior Counsel 

RE: Philadelphia Land Bank May 13, 2025 Board Meeting 
Board Meeting Notice, Public Attendance, and Comment Procedures 

DATE: May 2, 2025 

The Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank (“Land Bank”) is scheduled for 
Tuesday, May 13, 2025, with the executive session to begin at 9:30 A.M. and the meeting to begin at 
10:00 A.M or as soon as the Executive Session has ended. 

THIS MEETING WILL BE IN PERSON AT 1234 MARKET STREET IN THE 17TH 
FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM AND IS OPEN TO PUBLIC ATTENDEES AND 
FOR PUBLIC COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS. 
YOU WILL NEED VALID IDENTIFICATION TO ENTER THE BUILDING. 

PLEASE NOTE: To participate in the meeting, you must sign in before entering the conference room. 
This requirement is necessary to allow us to collect the names of participants as required by law. 

The Board agenda and package will be available to view no later than five (5) days prior to the Board 
meeting at https://phillylandbank.org/. Public comments and questions regarding the matters that are 
posted on the agenda may be submitted by email prior to the Board meeting and/or in person if attending the 
Board meeting. 

Public Comment BEFORE Board Meeting: 
Email the following information to andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov by 3:00 p.m. on Monday, May 12, 2025: 

• Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable;
• Contact information (your email address);
• Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and
• State your question/comment in a clear and concise manner.

Questions/comments submitted via email by the 3:00 pm deadline will be summarized at the Board meeting, 
answered or addressed to the extent the Board chooses, and attached to the minutes of the meeting. 

Public Comment DURING Board Meeting: 
If you wish to comment on a particular agenda item, you must indicate that on the sign-in sheet before the 
meeting begins. Once recognized by the Board Chair, individuals will be allowed two (2) minutes for public 
comment per person per agenda item. 

• The Chair reserves the right to limit comments when more than a certain number of people have the
same comments on the same matter.

• Staff will assist with timing and identifying individuals as needed.

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 4 of 126

mailto:andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov
https://phillylandbank.org/


 

 

Rules of Conduct: 
• Comments must be related to the specific agenda item in question. 
• There will be no personal attacks or hate speech against anyone, including applicants, staff members, 

Board members, attendees or other members of the public. 
 

Minutes of Board Meeting: 
The draft minutes of a Board meeting will be made publicly available when the Board package for the next 
Board meeting is posted on the Land Bank Board website. Once approved by the Board, the approved 
minutes will be posted under the appropriate Board meeting date on the Land Bank website. 

 
If you have a question about an agenda item after the meeting concludes, please submit it to 
andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov with the following information: 

• Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable; 
• Contact information (your email address); 
• Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and 
• State your question/comment in a clear and concise manner. 

Land Bank staff will provide a response to the extent possible. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 5 of 126

mailto:andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov


 

 

 

 

 

 
MAY 13, 2025 PLB BOARD MEETING 

 
MINUTES FOR MARCH 22, 2025 SPECIAL MEETING 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 6 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 1 of 19 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

MARCH 22, 2025 BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 
 
 
A Special Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Saturday, 
March 22, 2025, via Zoom, of which proper notices were given.  

 
Call to Order 

 
The meeting was called to order at 1:05 pm. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah announced that prior to the Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session 
during which Mr. Rodriguez briefed to the Board the process and negotiations that resulted in the 
proposed Memorandum of Understanding between the Sheriff and the Land Bank (the “MOU”) being 
presented to the Board for consideration and approval. Ms. Imredy Saah explained that this special 
meeting was called solely to discuss the MOU, and as such no old or new business would be addressed, 
although public comment would be allowed following the Board’s discussion.  
 

Item I 
Roll Call 

 
The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Herbert Wetzel, Darwin Beauvais, 
Cornelius Brown, Nicholas Dema, Maria Gonzalez, Andrew Goodman, Jenny Greenberg, Kelvin 
Jeremiah, Michael Johns, Rebecca Lopez-Kriss, and Majeedah Rashid.   
 
The following Land Bank staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., 
and Lily V. Bernadel, Esq. 
 
Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes.   
 
A quorum of Directors was present, and the special meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded 
with business. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah reviewed the Board’s public comment policy and explained the attendees could enter 
questions using the Q&A feature on their screens and could raise their hand if they wanted to comment 
during the public comment period.  She stated that the meeting was being recorded and that the 
recording would be posted on the Board’s webpage within 30 days.  
 

Item II 
Approval of Memorandum of Understanding  

 
Chair Wetzel stated that the Board had been presented with a resolution to approve the Memorandum 
of Understanding (the “MOU”) between the Philadelphia Sheriff’s Office and the Land Bank to 
advance the Land Bank’s property acquisition efforts, a central part of its mission, and invited Mr. 
Rodriguez to present the proposed resolution.  
 
Mr. Rodriguez addressed the Board and public, requesting the Board’s approval of the MOU between 
the City of Philadelphia, by and through the Sheriff, and the Land Bank: 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 7 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 2 of 19 

➢ Scope of the MOU: 
Allows the Land Bank to resume monthly acquisition of tax-delinquent properties at Sheriff’s 
sales using its noncompetitive priority bid right, as authorized by state law (68 P.S. § 2117) 
and the Philadelphia Code (§§ 16-702, 16-703, 16-705), in support of its mission. 

➢ Purpose of the MOU: 
Establishes a formal, coordinated process that balances: 
o The Land Bank’s interest in acquiring strategic properties; 
o The City’s revenue collection goals; and 
o The Sheriff’s mandate in protecting property owners’ and creditors’ interests. 

➢ Process Overview: 
The Land Bank will work with the City’s Revenue, Finance, and Law Departments, and the 
Sheriff, to identify target properties and acquire them via the Bid4Assets auction platform, 
following notice to interested parties. 

➢ Limitations: 
The MOU sets a procedural framework only; it does not authorize specific property 
acquisitions or payment of delinquent municipal charges. These actions require future Board 
approval through spending resolutions. 

➢ Execution & Effective Date: 
The Sheriff has signed the MOU. Upon Board approval, it will be reviewed by Ms. Imredy 
Saah for legal form and executed by Mr. Rodriguez via DocuSign. It will take effect on 
Monday, March 24, 2025. 

➢ Updated Costs: 
Estimated Sheriff’s fees per property are $630, which is a significant reduction from the Land 
Bank’s previous costs for acquiring properties at Sheriff’s sales. 

➢ Next Steps: 
o Staff will meet with servicers (GRB Law and Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson) and 

the City’s Revenue Department to review stayed or postponed properties. 
o Land Banks intends to exercise its priority bidding rights under the MOU beginning at 

the June 2025 Sheriff’s sales. 
o Land Bank Staff will consult with the Finance Committee to prepare and present a 

resolution for spending authority to the Board. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez reiterated to the Board that the Land Bank has $5 million escrowed for acquisition - 
$3.5 million for regular acquisitions and $1.5 million for previously identified garden and side yard 
properties for which the City paid off the U.S. Bank liens. A copy of the fully executed MOU is 
attached to these minutes as Exhibit A.  
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board. 
 
Mr. Johns asked for clarification regarding the MOU’s timeframe.  
 
Mr. Rodriguez explained that the MOU will run for one year, from March 24, 2025, to March 23, 2026, 
at the end of which renewal will be discussed if there are no issues. He noted that transitioning to a 
multi-year agreement in the future would require City Council approval, and the current one-year term 
allows the Land Bank to resume property acquisitions and evaluate the process before seeking longer-
term authorization. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 8 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 3 of 19 

Mr. Rodriguez acknowledged Ms. Imredy Saah for her efforts in helping finalize the MOU, noting that 
the process had been ongoing for some time, and Ms. Imredy Saah’s contribution was especially critical 
to get the completed MOU to the finish line. 
 
Mr. Beauvais and Mr. Jeremiah both commended and congratulated Mr. Rodriguez, Ms. Imredy Saah, 
and the Land Bank staff for their efforts in finalizing the MOU, emphasizing that it was a major 
accomplishment which fosters the Land Bank’s mission and the administration’s vision.  
 
Mr. Goodman asked whether multiple resolutions related to the MOU would be presented in April, 
including approval of the fully executed MOU and a property list for spending authority. Mr. Rodriguez 
responded that after the Board approves the MOU and Ms. Imredy Saah reviews it for legal form, he 
will then sign and execute the MOU. The Land Bank staff will then meet with servicers, the Finance 
Committee, and the City’s Department of Revenue to conduct necessary reviews before bringing a 
request for spending authority to the Board to the Board, likely to occur in May. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah explained that property lists for Sheriff’s sales are often finalized only 45 days in 
advance, but the Land Bank will try to provide an estimate of the properties intended for acquisition 
over the course of the next three to six months. Mr. Rodriguez noted that last-minute adjustments, 
including postponements days before a sale, are sometimes necessary due to the fluid nature of the 
process. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez explained that, unlike in previous years when funds had to be requested from the 
Department of Revenue before the Land Bank could pay the Sheriff for acquired properties, the Land 
Bank now has $5 million in escrow, functioning like a line of credit. 
 
Ms. Greenberg asked how many postponed properties remain and whether sufficient funding is 
available to acquire them. Mr. Rodriguez responded that a full accounting had not yet been completed 
as the focus was on preventing the loss of properties. He explained that a detailed review of the list and 
associated costs would be conducted after the MOU is executed. 
 
Mr. Goodman then inquired about the status of former U.S. Bank lien properties. Mr. Rodriguez 
explained that the City exercised its right of first refusal under the bond issuance and paid off the U.S. 
Bank liens on those identified garden properties. The Land Bank will now seek to acquire those garden 
properties through the City’s Sheriff’s sales. Mr. Rodriguez stated that he was not aware of the current 
administration’s plans for the remaining U.S. Bank lien properties.  
 
Mr. Jeremiah sought confirmation that the Board’s vote at this meeting was solely to approve the final 
MOU, and Mr. Rodriguez responded in the affirmative.  
 
Chair Wetzel asked if any written comments or requests to comment were received from the public.   
 
Ms. Imredy Saah confirmed that written questions were being received from the public attendees. Some 
of the questions were answered live, while others were answered via the Q&A function on Zoom. All 
public questions received during the special meeting are attached to these minutes as Exhibit B.  
 
The first written question was from Allison Weiss, who asked how properties are determined to meet 
the Land Bank's mission.  Mr. Rodriguez explained that part of the Land Bank’s mission is to acquire 
tax-delinquent properties for productive uses such as affordable housing, open space, side yards, 
community use, or business expansion, as outlined in its acquisition policy. Properties must be 
delinquent for over three years and in arrears for at least $2,000 in property taxes and other municipal 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 9 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 4 of 19 

liens. When the Land Bank identifies such a property for acquisition, that property owner can avoid 
the acquisition by paying the delinquency in full, which has led many to resolve their debts since the 
Land Bank began this work in 2017. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah then read a question from Ryan Briggs, who asked why the meeting was held as a 
special session rather than during a regular board meeting.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the MOU 
had been under negotiation for some time, and all parties, including the Administration, were eager to 
finalize it. Ms. Lopez Kriss added that the timing was critical to meet fiscal year deadlines and allow 
proper notice for the June 2025 Sheriff’s sale. Ms. Imredy Saah noted that notice must be given not 
only to property owners but also to all interested parties, including lienholders of properties the Land 
Bank has identified as intended for acquisition at Sheriff’s sales.  
 
Ms. Imredy Saah read a question from Sterling Scott asking how to access information about property 
acquisitions.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that properties the Land Bank intends to acquire will be 
presented to the Board for a spending resolution. He encouraged the public to download the Land 
Bank’s acquisition policy from its website to confirm that the Land Bank’s targeted properties for 
acquisition are appropriate under its policy. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez asked whether there is a mechanism for tracking public comments after the MOU is 
adopted, so they can be considered in future renegotiations or extensions.  Mr. Rodriguez responded 
that the MOU is a legal agreement authorizing the Land Bank to exercise its legislated priority bid 
authority, and it is not policy-driven in a way that invites ongoing revisions based on public input. 
However, he noted that public comments made in this format are recorded in the meeting minutes and 
captured in the video, ensuring they are part of the public record. Ms. Gonzalez emphasized the 
importance of assuring the public that their input is valued and will be considered when applicable and 
practical.  
 
Mr. Goodman suggested that once the MOU is finalized, the Land Bank should post or announce how 
community members can submit requests for the Land Bank to consider acquiring properties – such as 
threatened community spaces – before  upcoming Sheriff sales.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that such 
requests are currently made directly to  Land Bank staff or Council offices, and the Land Bank tracks 
and evaluates them, postponing or staying sales when appropriate.  
 
Mr. Rodriguez read a second question submitted by Mr. Briggs asking whether there were issues with 
the Sheriff’s office preventing the parties from reaching an agreement six months or a year ago.  Mr. 
Rodriguez explained that delays stemmed from both legislative and operational issues, particularly the 
transition to the new online auction platform. He emphasized that both parties negotiated in good faith 
and credited the legal teams, including Ms. Imredy Saah and the Sheriff’s counsel, for reaching a 
resolution. 
 
Ms. Lopez Kriss added that based on her understanding of the MOU, it mainly addresses logistical 
details such as fee structure and processes, which were significantly different from past in-person sales. 
 
In response to a related question posed by a member of the public, Yvonne Haskins, Mr. Rodriguez 
clarified that any ongoing issues involving the court system and the Sheriff’s Office are unrelated to 
the MOU. He expressed optimism that the new platform and the MOU’s terms, such as allowing Land 
Bank staff to handle deed filings, will streamline acquisitions and improve efficiency going forward. 
 
Ms. Weiss asked how the Land Bank would choose between multiple eligible properties and whether 
certain neighborhoods would be prioritized.  Mr. Rodriguez explained that the Land Bank does not 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 10 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 5 of 19 

prioritize neighborhoods; properties are evaluated based on their intended use under the Land Bank’s 
mission and acquisition policy. Selection ultimately depends on eligibility, timing of Sheriff sales, and 
compliance with notice and procedural requirements, which staff will begin addressing once the MOU 
is executed.  Ms. Imredy Saah added that under the Land Bank’s acquisition policy, funds cannot be 
used to acquire properties with existing U.S. Bank liens. 
 
Pamela Bracey, a member of the public, then asked whether Germantown settlement properties were 
included in the Land Bank’s efforts. Mr. Rodriguez explained that those properties are owned and 
managed by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority (PRA), not the Land Bank, and that PRA is 
actively exploring reuse options for them. Ms. Bracey expressed concern over the long delay in 
addressing these properties.  
 
Dawud Bey, a member of the public, asked whether the MOU addresses delays in the Sheriff sale 
process and if there are ways to expedite property acquisitions to support the City’s goal of developing 
30,000 homes.  Mr. Rodriguez explained that the MOU does not impact the initiation of Sheriff sales, 
which follow a court-mandated tax foreclosure process that can take seven to twelve months. The Land 
Bank only becomes involved at the final stage, once a decree and sale date are set. He emphasized the 
importance of protecting homeowners with tax liens on their homes, noting that in the past, some 
individuals lost their homes through fraudulent activity at Sheriff sales – not due to actions by the 
Sheriff’s Office, but by others exploiting the process. He stressed the need to give property owners 
every opportunity to resolve their tax debts before sale. To that end, the Land Bank focuses on long-
term vacant properties, not occupied homes, to avoid displacement and promote responsible 
redevelopment.  
 
Ms. Imredy Saah acknowledged the appreciation expressed for her and Mr. Rodriguez’s work on the 
MOU but emphasized that it would not have been possible without Daniel Cantu-Herzler, the City Law 
Department attorney representing the Sheriff’s Office. She credited him for his significant efforts in 
drafting and refining the MOU, noting that his contributions greatly expedited the process. 
 
Chair Wetzel then called for a motion regarding approval of the MOU. 
 
Mr. Jeremiah moved to approve the MOU. Mr. Beauvais seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Approving 
the Memorandum of Understanding on Land Bank Priority Bidding Between the City of 
Philadelphia, by and through the Sheriff, and the Philadelphia Land Bank (attached to these 
minutes as Exhibit C). 
 

Item III 
Adjournment 

 
The special meeting was adjourned at 1:43 pm. 
 

  
SECRETARY TO THE BOARD 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 11 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 6 of 19 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 
 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL MEETING 
Saturday, March 22, 2025, at 1:00 PM. 

User Name (Original Name) 
Max Frankel 

Cheryl Oliphant 
Franchon Pryor 

Winifred Branton 
Jacquelyn Sims 
Joanne Bourne 

Jamir Byrd 
Hyacinth Johnson 

David Yurky 
DANA Ray 

Gwen Richardson 
Sterling Scott 
Ryan Briggs 

Aaron Moselle 
Yvonne Haskins 
Kristin Haskins 
Monica Quarrie 

Dawud Bey 
Salahuddin Muhammad 

Kim R 
Patricia De Carlo 

Allison Weiss 
LuAn Gethers 
Joseph Duffey 

Gail Loney 
Danita Bates 

Pamela Bracey 
Jessie Lawrence 

Doris Aldridge 
Virgis Anusauskas 

Byron Ryan 
L C 

Jamila Davis 
Justin Spivey 
Mark Lawson 

David Feldman 
Mike Tomasetti 
Jenelle Lemon 
Russell Hicks 

Shawn Smalley 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 12 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 7 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 13 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 8 of 19 

 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 14 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 9 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 15 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 10 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 16 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 11 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 17 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 12 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 18 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 13 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 19 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 14 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 20 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 15 of 19 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 21 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 16 of 19 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 22 of 126



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 17 of 19 

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 23 of 126



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 18 of 19 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 12 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
ON LAND BANK PRIORITY BIDDING BETWEEN THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA,  

BY AND THROUGH THE SHERIFF, AND THE PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Land Bank, as a means to acquire property for use in its mission, 
has the right to exercise a noncompetitive priority bid (“priority bid”) in certain circumstances as 
authorized by 68 Pa. C.S. § 2117(d) and Philadelphia Code § 16-705, and intends to resume its 
acquisition, by exercise of its priority bid, of certain tax delinquent property which the City of 
Philadelphia (the “City”) will expose to sheriff sale pursuant to the Municipal Claim and Tax Lien Law 
(“Tax Sales”) on the Bid4Assets electronic platform currently in use by the Sheriff of Philadelphia (the 
“Sheriff”); 

WHEREAS, the City understands the value and benefit of the Land Bank and the special 
powers granted to it by the General Assembly to acquire and repurpose vacant tax delinquent properties 
for the benefit of the City and its citizens; 

 WHEREAS, Tax Sale auctions ordered by the courts in Philadelphia are conducted by the 
Sheriff, who is mandated to be a neutral party and, in general, to conduct Tax Sales so as to reasonably 
maximize the proceeds available for distribution to creditors and to the owners whose properties are 
sold at auction; 

WHEREAS, the Land Bank understands the value and benefit of swift and consistent 
enforcement of tax delinquencies to maximize revenues for the benefit of the City and Philadelphia 
School District and their residents and students while respecting the Sheriff’s role in conducting Tax 
Sales; 

WHEREAS, the City, by and through the Sheriff, and the Land Bank wish to create a process 
that respects the Land Bank’s interest in acquiring properties it identifies as furthering its mission, the 
City’s interest in using Tax Sales as part of its revenue collection process, and the Sheriff’s interest in 
protecting the interests of owners and creditors; 

WHEREAS, the City, by and through the Sheriff, and the Land Bank have developed a 
Memorandum of Understanding, attached to this Resolution as Exhibit A, which creates a mutually 
acceptable process for the Land Bank to identify and acquire tax delinquent properties while making 
payment to the City, by and through the Sheriff, for certain real property delinquent taxes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has considered the Memorandum of Understanding and finds its 

adoption to be in the best interests of the Land Bank; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that the Executive Director and Senior Counsel: 

1. May, under the authority granted by Board Resolution 2017-43 adopted on October 
12, 2017, enter into the Memorandum of Understanding, which is attached to this 
Resolution. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 24 of 126



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2025  Page 19 of 19 

2. With the advice of counsel, may allow modifications to the attached Memorandum of 
Understanding which are in the best interests of the Land Bank and which do not 
materially alter the substantive process now represented in the attached Memorandum 
of Understanding, provided that the Executive Director or Senior Counsel will notify 
the Board of all modifications to Memorandum of Understanding at the next Board 
meeting following the date of such modifications. 

3. Shall present at the April 8, 2025 Board Meeting the Memorandum of Understanding 
as executed by all parties. 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on March 22, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 25 of 126



 

 

 

 

 

 
MAY 13, 2025 PLB BOARD MEETING 

 
MINUTES FOR APRIL 8, 2025 REGULAR MEETING 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 26 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 1 of 48 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

APRIL 8, 2025 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 
 
 
A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 
April 8, 2025, at 1234 Market Street, 17th Floor Boardroom, Philadelphia, PA 19107, of which proper 
notices were given. A condensed certified transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes as 
Exhibit A.  

 
Call to Order 

 
The meeting was called to order at 10:12 am. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah announced that prior to the Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session 
during which Mr. Rodriguez reviewed the meeting agenda and provided an update on the status of the 
Land Bank’s process to start acquiring properties at Sheriff’s sales.   

 
Item I 

Roll Call 
 
The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Herbert Wetzel, Darwin Beauvais, 
Cornelius Brown, Nicholas Dema, Maria Gonzalez, Andrew Goodman, Jenny Greenberg, Kelvin 
Jeremiah, Michael Johns and Rebecca Lopez-Kriss.   
 
Majeedah Rashid was absent from the Board meeting. 
 
The following Land Bank staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., 
Lily Bernadel, Esq., Cristina Martinez, Mathen Pullukattu, and Brian Romano. 
 
Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes.   
 
A quorum of Directors was present, and the meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded with 
business. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah reviewed the Board’s public comment policy and requested that attendees sign up to 
make public comments and sign the attendance sheet.  

 
Item II 

Approval of Board Minutes 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board regarding the minutes of the Board 
meeting of March 11, 2025.  There were none. 
 
Chair Wetzel then called for a motion to approve the meeting minutes. 
 
Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the minutes.  Mr. Johns seconded the motion. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 27 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 2 of 48 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board approved the March 11, 2025, Board Meeting 
minutes.   

 
Item III 

Executive Director’s Report 
 
Mr. Rodriguez began his report with administratively approved changes to existing projects.  Pursuant 
to Resolution No. 2023-32, the Executive Director of the Land Bank is authorized to approve, on behalf 
of the Land Bank, increases in the Maximum Price of affordable homeownership units constructed by 
a developer as part of a Board-approved disposition. To that end, Mr. Rodriguez reported that he had 
approved increases to the maximum sales price of a finished home for two previously approved 
affordable housing projects: 
 

(1) Fine Print Construction, LLC (2nd District) 
a. 26 affordable units: Sales price increased from $250,000 to $280,000; 
b. AMI remains at 80%; and 
c. Increase is due to building cost increases and additional expenses due to soil conditions. 

 
(2) Civetta Property Group, LLC (2609–27 Sears Street) 

a. 12 affordable units: Sales price increased from $250,000 to $280,000; 
b. AMI remains at 80%; and 
c. Increase is due to new City regulations, excavation requirements, and cost escalations 

(about $63,000 per house). 
 
Next, Mr. Rodriguez reported that two previously approved projects were withdrawn due to inaction 
of Council: (i) a side yard application in the 3rd District at 719 S. 51st Street; and (ii) a 10-unit Turn 
the Key project by Prime Corporation in the 5th District, which was approved at 100% AMI. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez also announced that the Land Bank launched its long-awaited new website on March 
28, 2025: phillylandbank.org. The website was developed in collaboration with the City’s Office of 
Innovation and Technology, the Communications Department, and Land Bank Staff. The site is 
intended to improve the user experience and promote transparency. Staff continues to meet regularly 
to address updates, and public feedback is welcomed. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez provided an update on the Land Bank’s upcoming resumption of the acquisition of 
properties at Sheriff’s sales through priority bidding as outlined in the Memorandum of Understanding 
(“MOU) between the Land Bank and the Philadelphia Sheriff’s Office. The MOU, which became 
effective on March 24, 2025, formalizes the Land Bank’s use of its priority bid at Sheriff’s Tax Sales 
through the Bid4Assets platform.  
 
The Land Bank expects to begin exercising its priority bid authority at the June 2025 Sheriff’s Sales. 
Land Bank Staff are currently reviewing eligible properties and updating internal acquisition systems. 
In preparation for acquisitions, the Land Bank has $5 million in escrowed funds, including $3.5 million 
for general acquisitions (approximately 325 properties), and $1.5 million reserved for garden and side 
yard properties for which the City of Philadelphia paid off existing U.S. Bank liens. 
 
Finally, Mr. Rodriguez provided the Board with the status of garden dispositions and Turn the Key 
(“TTK”)  updates. He reported that the outstanding additional legal issues related to mortgages and 
notes for garden dispositions have been resolved between the Redevelopment Authority and the Land 
Bank. Final drafts of the Purchase and Development Agreements (PDAs) have been submitted to 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 28 of 126

https://philadelphialandbank.org/


PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 3 of 48 

applicants for review and signature. Approximately half of the seventeen pending projects have 
received PDAs, with closings expected soon. 
 
As for TTK, the program is nearing its 200th settlement. A TTK ribbon-cutting was held on March 28 
at 3031 Martha Street, and another is scheduled for April 11 at 2141 N. Franklin Street. According to 
Mr. Rodriguez, TTK’s metrics as of April 8, 2025 are as follows: 
 

• 792 units of affordable housing approved for development; 400 under construction 
• 235 completed; 218 sold or under agreement (195 sold; 23 pending) 
• 75 sold to City employees 
• $13.6M in mortgages and $1.9M in grants committed 

 
An open house will be held on April 26, 2025, at Vare Recreation Center from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. There were none. 
 
The Executive Director’s report is attached to these minutes as Exhibit B.  

 
Item IV 

Administrative Matters 
 

IV.A.  Interagency Transfer  
 
Mr. Rodriguez requested Board approval to transfer Philadelphia Land Bank properties located in the 
Fifth Council District to the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation (PHDC) for use in the 
PHDC Minority Developer Program (MDP) for the development of affordable housing. The properties, 
approved for conveyance in coordination with the 5th Council District, are as follows: 1437 Ogden 
Street, 1438 Ogden Street, 1539 Ogden Street, 1544 Ogden Street, 1546 Ogden Street, 1610 Ogden 
Street, 1613 Ogden Street, 863 N. 15th Street, 841 N. 16th Street, 845 N. 16th Street, and 851 N. 16th 
Street. 

 
Mr. Rodriguez reported that the conveyance of these properties by PHDC will be subject to a right of 
reverter in favor of PHDC, require purchase and development agreements with recourse provisions, 
and require an Economic Opportunity Plan (EOP) for each development. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. There were none.  
 
Chair Wetzel then asked Ms. Imredy Saah whether there were any written comments or requests to 
comment received from the public. Ms. Imredy Saah confirmed there were none. 
 
Seeing no questions from the Board or the public, Chair Wetzel called for a motion. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the interagency transfer to PHDC. Mr. Jeremiah seconded the motion.   
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546, 1610 and 1613 Ogden Street; 863 N. 15th Street; 863 
N. 15th Street; 841, 845 and 851 N. 16th Street to Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation 
(attached to these minutes as Exhibit C).    
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 29 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 4 of 48 

IV.B.1  Amendment to Approved Disposition 
 
Senior Development Specialist Mathen Pullukattu requested Board approval to amend Resolution No. 
2024-21, adopted by the Board on June 11, 2024, to revise the maximum sales price and AMI level for 
fifty-eight (58) affordable homeownership units in the 8th Council District from $250,000 at 80% AMI 
to $280,000 at 100% AMI, due to rising construction costs and to increased compliance costs related 
to the recent implementation of new City regulations.  
 
Ms. Gonzalez pointed to a necessary correction to the addresses listed in the agenda, noting it should 
reflect 423-27 and 429 East Ashmead Street, as listed in the resolution originally approving the project 
and in the resolution to amend.  
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. 
 
The Board asked for clarification regarding acquisition price changes, noting that the Executive 
Director’s report reflected an increase from $250,000 to $280,000 for other projects that were not 
requesting Board approval for the change to the sale price.   
 
Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that while acquisition prices have changed in other projects which he is able 
to approve administratively, the AMI levels in those projects have remained the same as they were 
when approved. Chair Wetzel remarked that in this case, there is a request to change the AMI from 
80% to 100%. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez explained that in the 2nd District, maintaining affordability at 80% AMI is challenging 
due to tight financial margins, despite support from banks that help lower costs for buyers to as low as 
59–60% AMI. He reported that any decision to keep it at that level involves negotiations with the 
Council office, as the Turn the Key legislation limits homeownership costs to 30% of income. 
However, in the 8th District, there was no opposition to increasing the AMI to 100%, which aligns with 
other Turn the Key projects and broadens opportunities for developers, lenders, and potential 
homebuyers. 
 
No written comments were received prior to the Board meeting.  
 
Chair Wetzel noted that no one from the public signed up to speak on this agenda item.  
 
Ms. Imredy Saah asked the Board to approve an amendment to correct the property addresses in the 
Resolution to 423-27 and 429 Ashmead Street.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Johns. Mr. Goodman seconded the motion.  
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the corrections of property 
addresses in the Resolution. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for a motion regarding the amendment to the project.  
 
Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the amendment to the project. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending 
Resolution No. 2024-21 to Revise the Unit Sales Price and Maximum Income Eligibility Level for 
Homeownership Units Constructed on 423-27 and 429 E. Ashmead Street; 226, 260, 278 and 313 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 30 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 5 of 48 

E. Bringhurst Street; 49 E. Earlham Street; 4635 Germantown Avenue; 30 Good Street; 5608, 
5618, 5619, 5642 and 5669 Heiskell Street; 4946 Keyser Street; 5514, 5515 and 5642 Morton 
Street; 6672 and 6674 Musgrave Street; 53 E. Pastorius Street; 207 E. Penn Street; 248 E. Phil 
Ellena Street; 42 and 44 Reger Street; 35 E. Seymour Street; 227, 261 and 263 E. Sharpnack 
Street; 111 and 112 E. Springer Street; 4951, 4957, 4961 and 4975 Sheldon Street; 218, 326, 342 
and 343 Shedaker Street; 4925 and 5222 Wakefield Street (attached to these minutes as Exhibit D). 
 
IV.B.2  Amendment to Approved Disposition 
 
Next, Mr. Pullukattu requested Board approval to amend Resolution No. 2024-48, adopted by the 
Board on October 8, 2024, to revise the maximum sales price and AMI level for twenty-two (22) 
affordable homeownership units from $250,000 at 80% AMI to $280,000 at 100% AMI, due to rising 
construction costs and to increased compliance costs related to the recent implementation of new City 
regulations. 
 
Ms. Imredy Saah reported that no questions or public comments were received.  
 
Chair Wetzel noted no one from the public had signed up to speak, and seeing no public comments, 
called for a motion. 
 
Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the amendment to the project. Mr. Jeremiah seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending 
Resolution No. 2024-48 to Revise the Unit Sales Price and Maximum Income Eligibility Level for 
Homeownership Units Constructed on 1520-40 West Venango Street and 1600-20 West Venango 
Street (attached to these minutes as Exhibit E). 
 

Item V 
Property Dispositions 

 
V.A.1  Development – Mixed-Income Housing (unsolicited) 
 
Project Manager Brian Romano asked the Board to authorize the disposition of five (5) properties—
100 Emily Street, 2315 South Marshall Street, 518 Pierce Street, 2549 South 3rd Street, and 2117 South 
6th Street—to BVG S Philadelphia AH, LLC to develop three (3) affordable homeownership units and 
two (2) market-rate homes in the First (1st) Council District. The homes fit within the context of the 
neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Romano explained that the affordable units will consist of three (3) two-story single-family homes 
with a finished basement, containing three (3) bedrooms and two (2) bathrooms at 1,458 square feet 
each, and will be sold to households with an income at or below 100% of AMI for a maximum sales 
price of $280,000. The affordable homes will be eligible for the Neighborhood Preservation Initiative’s 
Turn the Key Program and will be subject to a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants. The two (2) 
market-rate units will be three stories with a finished basement, containing four (4) bedrooms and three 
(3) bathrooms at approximately 2,898 square feet each. The estimated sales price for the market-rate 
units will be $495,000. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition 
policy. An EOP plan will apply to this project. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board. There were none.  
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 31 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 6 of 48 

Ms. Imredy Saah stated that there were no written comments received prior to the meeting. 
 
Chair Wetzel noted that Justin Veasey signed up to speak and asked him to come forward.  Mr. Veasey, 
the developer, thanked the Board for the opportunity to present the project, noting it is part of a larger 
development effort in District 1 that involved coordination with three different RCOs, all of which 
expressed support. He highlighted his long-standing involvement with the Turn the Key program, 
stating his team has developed 41 units to date, with all affordable units sold or under contract, and 
two remaining market-rate units nearing completion.  
 
Mr. Romano added that Mr. Veasey was among the first developers to participate in Turn the Key. 
 
Jeremy Blatstein noted that there was a discrepancy with one of the addresses in the title of the 
resolution but not the body of the resolution.  Ms. Imredy Saah proposed correcting the typo directly 
since the information is correct in the body of the resolution, suggesting that a formal amendment to 
the resolution was not necessary. 
 
Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion.  
 
Mr. Jeremiah moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Beauvais seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 100 Emily Street, 2315 South Marshall Street, 518 Pierce Street, 2549 South 3rd 
Street, and 2117 South 6th Street to BVG S Philadelphia AH, LLC (attached to these minutes as 
Exhibit F). 
 
V.B.1  Development – Affordable Rental Housing (unsolicited) 
 
Next, Mr. Romano asked the Board to authorize the disposition of 1610 South 56th Street to DMCV, 
LLC for the renovation of a 2-unit duplex in the 3rd Councilmanic District. Each unit will have two 
(2) bedrooms, one (1) bathroom, and approximately 1,050 square feet, and will be rented to households 
at or below 80% AMI for a maximum rent of $2,066/ month under a 30-year restrictive covenant. The 
project was unsolicited, reviewed under standard disposition policy, and includes an Economic 
Opportunity Plan (EOP). A virtual RCO meeting was held with three attendees.  
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. 
 
Mr. Johns requested an amendment to the resolution for 1610 South 56th Street, stating the submitted 
floor plans do not match the building’s shape and fail to meet code requirements: specifically, the 
bedrooms lack windows, which he stated is illegal. He noted the discrepancies between the site plan 
and the floor plans.  
 
Chair Wetzel questioned code compliance, and upon confirming the developer was present, asked her 
to come forward to address the issue.  Danielle M. Carson-Varns, the developer and owner of DMCV, 
LLC stepped up to the podium to address the Board’s questions and concerns. 
 
Mr. Johns raised concerns that the submitted floor plans for the duplex do not match the site plan and 
appear to lack windows in the bedrooms, which would violate the building code. Ms. Carson-Varns 
explained that the plans were submitted as simplified schematics upon request and reflect the layout of 
an existing structure after undergoing renovation—not new construction. She noted that full 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 32 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 7 of 48 

architectural plans were not submitted because the property has not yet been acquired and emphasized 
that the plans and set-up reflect the current interior configuration of the duplex.   
Mr. Romano reiterated that this is a rehab project, and pictures of the interior were limited due to safety 
concerns in the building.  Mr. Johns acknowledged the explanation but reiterated the need for more 
accurate plans to ensure compliance. 
 
In response to Chair Wetzel’s inquiry regarding the overall disposition process leading up to closing, 
Mr. Rodriguez clarified that the current plans submitted are preliminary renderings used only for Board 
consideration. He stated that final, code-compliant plans, reviewed and approved by L&I, will be 
required before closing and attached to the development contract.  
 
Mr. Johns’ concerns about windowless bedrooms and inconsistencies were acknowledged and noted 
for the record.  Based on this understanding, Chair Wetzel called for a motion.  
 
Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the disposition.  Ms. Greenberg seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 1610 South 56th Street to DMCV, LLC (attached to these minutes as Exhibit G).  
Chair Wetzel thanked the developer for contributing to needed housing development 
 
V.B.2.  Development – Affordable Rental Housing (unsolicited) 
 
Prior to the next disposition item, Ms. Imredy Saah informed the Board and the public that Board 
member Michael Johns had recused himself due to a conflict of interest. She read his formal recusal 
letter, disclosing that his firm, Mdesigns + MWJ Consulting, LLC, is the architect for the Cathedral 
Park Homes LP project under consideration. In accordance with the Land Bank's conflict policy, Mr. 
Johns confirmed he would abstain from all participation, discussions, and votes related to the matter 
and would remove himself from the meeting during its consideration.  The letter is attached to these 
minutes as Exhibit H. 
 
Mr. Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of multiple parcels on West Girard Avenue 
to Cathedral Park Homes LP for the development of forty (40) Low Income Housing Tax Credit 
(“LIHTC”) rental units to be leased to households earning between 20-50% AMI in the Fourth (4th) 
Council District. The units will be contained in three buildings: 
 

• Building 1 - 4979-4991½ W. Girard Avenue (three-story building, 20 units):  
o 13 one-bedroom/1-bathroom units; 
o 2 two-bedroom/1-bathroom units; 
o 5 three-bedroom/1.5-bathroom units; 
o 8 of the units are ADA compliant for tenants with physical challenges; 
o 2 units are adapted for tenants with hearing and vision challenges  
o Amenities:  

▪ Ground floor: lobby, meeting room, and a manager’s office.   
▪ Second floor: laundry room and a computer lab. 

 
• Building 2 - 4967-4973 W. Girard Avenue (three-story quadplex, 8 units):  

o 4 two-bedroom/1-bathroom units; and  
o 4 three-bedroom/1.5 bathroom units.  

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 33 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025 Page 8 of 48 

• Building 3 - 4947-4957 W. Girard Avenue (three-story quadplex, 12 units):
o 6 two-bedroom/1-bathroom units; and
o 6 three-bedroom/1.5-bathroom units.

Mr. Romano reported that the application was unsolicited and is qualified pursuant to the disposition 
policy.  An EOP plan will apply for this project. 

Mr. Rodriguez informed the Board that the Cathedral Park Homes project has already secured tax 
credits and City support through supplemental gap financing and that community engagement included 
multiple meetings.  

Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. There were none. 

Chair Wetzel then asked Ms. Imredy Saah if any written public comments were received.  Ms. Imredy 
Saah responded in the affirmative, stating that several written public comments were submitted, and 
proceeded to reach each letter into the record. The first letter read was from Mark Frog Harris, President 
of the Cathedral Park Community Development Corporation and Association (CPCDC&A). The 
second written comment was sent on behalf of Gaudenzia by Alexandra Moorhead, Director of 
Development at Stone Sherick Consulting. The third comment was from Nasha Bunch, who owns a 
neighboring property near the project site. All letters are attached to these minutes as Exhibit I. 

Chair Wetzel noted that two members of the public had signed up to comment on this disposition item. 

First, Mr. Harris, representing Friends of Cathedral Park Community Association, strongly opposed 
the Cathedral Park Homes project. He criticized the lack of proper community notice, the confusing 
and inaccessible meeting location, and the misleading inclusion of RCO names on flyers without 
consent.  He stated that residents were led to believe the project was abandoned and were disturbed by 
its sudden revival.  Mr. Harris accused Gaudenzia of misrepresenting the project’s purpose, raising 
concerns it may be tied to drug rehab services. He reaffirmed the community’s long-standing support 
for affordable homeownership—not rental housing—and urged the Board to reject the proposal and 
related land transfers.  

Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. 

Mr. Jeremiah questioned whether a community meeting took place before the project received City 
funding, as required by the City’s funding process. Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that a meeting was 
required, and opposition was voiced, but noted the City did not share the outcomes of those meetings 
with the community.  He acknowledged that, based on the process, the City likely believed sufficient 
community engagement had occurred to support the award of the gap financing. 

Chair Wetzel invited the next person who signed up to speak on this matter, Alley Moorhead, to come 
forward and speak. 

Alley Moorhead, project manager for Gaudenzia development project through Stone Sherick 
Consulting, addressed the Land Bank Board to clarify community engagement efforts for the 
proposed affordable housing project. She stated that Gaudenzia held all required community 
meetings, including one at the White Horse Tavern as requested by the community and another 
last week to meet the Land Bank Board requirements. Due to opposition over the timing and 
location of prior meetings, Gaudenzia agreed to host an additional meeting at the community’s 
preferred time—last night at 6:45 p.m.—which 15 people attended. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 34 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 9 of 48 

Ms. Moorhead emphasized that the project is not a drug and alcohol rehab center but rather 
permanent affordable housing open to anyone in the community, not limited to Gaudenzia’s 
clients. She noted that there was confusion due to Gaudenzia’s background, but zoning and funding 
are for housing. A list of community concerns was agreed upon and signed by Gaudenzia, 
addressing issues like security, cameras, ongoing communication, and use of meeting space by 
local groups. 

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether the previous speaker had attended recent meetings and agreed with the list 
of community concerns mentioned by Ms. Moorhead.  
 
Ms. Moorhead confirmed Mr. Harris’ attendance at all meetings and explained that the list was 
discussed at the most recent meeting and would be shared for approval. Ms. Moorhead emphasized 
that Gaudenzia aims to build affordable housing for the neighborhood, clarified that anyone from the 
community can apply, and stated that the project targets 50% AMI housing based on market analysis 
and local income levels. 
 
Mr. Jeremiah asked for the Gaudenzia representative present to address concerns raised by Mr. Harris, 
who referred to the proposed project as “housing for druggies.”  
 
David Slinger, Gaudenzia’s head of real estate, clarified that while Gaudenzia is known for 
substance abuse treatment, the proposed development is not a treatment facility but permanent 
low-income housing. He noted that Gaudenzia has operated several LIHTC and non-LIHTC 
affordable housing properties, with minimal placement of former clients—only four out of thirty 
tenants in a nearby project came through Gaudenzia. He stressed that any income-eligible applicant 
from the community can apply, and there will be no treatment, therapy, or counseling onsite.  Mr. 
Slinger added that Gaudenzia has committed to notifying the community when applications open 
and will offer help completing them.  

Ms. Moorhead reported that the closing date is targeted for July 18 (extendable to July 31) due to 
LIHTC deadlines. Mr. Slinger noted that the land must close at the time of financing, requiring 
fast-tracking post-Board and Council approvals. 

Chair Wetzel affirmed that LIHTC financing only permits residential use—not treatment or 
medical facilities—and prohibits discrimination based on treatment history.  Mr. Slinger confirmed 
that all eligible applicants are welcome and added that LIHTC tax credits must be used as approved 
and cannot be re-allocated.  

Chair Wetzel invited the last speaker who signed up to speak to come forward and address the Board. 
 
Melinda Madison, a lifelong resident of the neighborhood, voiced strong opposition to the 
proposed 40-unit apartment development by Gaudenzia. She expressed frustration over confusion 
about the meeting location, which made it difficult for some community members to attend. Ms. 
Madison emphasized concerns about increased traffic, the proximity to schools, and the negative 
impact she believes the apartments would have on the historic, homeowner-dense area. While she 
supports housing for those in need, Ms. Madison believes the site should be used for single-family 
homes with porches and yards—not apartments. She fears that the development will lead to 
overcrowding, increased violence, poor property upkeep, and a decline in neighborhood quality. 
Ms. Madison concluded by stating that attendees at the community meeting were also against the 
project and preferred homeownership-focused development.  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 35 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 10 of 48 

 
After thanking Ms. Madison for her comments, Chair Wetzel concluded the public comment period 
and called for a motion. 
 
Mr. Jeremiah moved for approval of the disposition. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.  
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 4947-49, 4951, 4953, 4955, 4957, 4967, 4969-73, 4979, 4981, 4983, 4985, 4987, 4989, 
4989½, 4991, 4991½ W. Girard Avenue to Cathedral Park Homes, LP (attached to these minutes 
as Exhibit J). 
 
V.B.3.  Development – Affordable Rental Housing (unsolicited) 
 
Mr. Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of several properties—1412,  1416, 
1421, 1429, and 1435 North 17th Street—to Pathways Housing Wellness Corporation for the 
development of 40 LIHTC rental units for households earning between 20–50% of AMI in 
Philadelphia’s 5th Council District.  
 

Building A: 
• Three-story structure 
• 19 residential units: 1-bedroom and 1- & 2-bedroom ADA-compliant units 
• Ground floor includes a management office, community room, kitchen, and ADA-

compliant bathrooms 
•  

Building B: 
• Three-story structure 
• 21 residential units: 1-bedroom and 1- & 2-bedroom ADA-compliant units 
• Ground floor includes a lobby and patio 
•  

Additional Project Features: 
• Surface parking lot with 12 spaces 
• Each building will have an elevator 
• Tenants will have full access to Pathways to Housing PA’s services: 

o Case management 
o Medical clinics 
o Employment readiness programs 

 
Mr. Romano stated that the application was unsolicited and qualifies under the disposition 
policy, and an Economic Opportunity Plan (EOP) will apply to the project. 
 
Chair Wetzel confirmed that there would be on-site office space, which Mr. Rodriguez affirmed. Mr. 
Romano clarified that the project is mixed-use, not mixed income, and includes office and community 
space, which is now a standard requirement for LIHTC projects.  
 
Chair Wetzel called for comments from the Board. 
 
Mr. Jeremiah noted the positive involvement of two healthcare providers contributing to the capital 
stack, highlighting the connection between housing and health outcomes.  
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 36 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025 Page 11 of 48 

Ms. Imredy Saah confirmed that no public comments were submitted prior to the meeting.  With no 
speakers signed up for public comment, Chair Wetzel proceeded to call for a motion.  

Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the disposition.  Mr. Jeremiah seconded the motion. 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 1412, 1416, 1421, 1429, and 1435 North 17th Street to Pathways Housing Wellness 
Corporation (attached to these minutes as Exhibit K). 

Item VI 
Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

Chair Wetzel then moved on to the old and new business portion of the meeting and noted that one 
person had signed up to speak, Jeremy Blatstein. 

Mr. Blatstein addressed the Board to raise concerns about project approval requirements. He 
referenced a recently withdrawn project in the 5th Council District involving 10 homes, noting 
that real money had already been spent on it. Mr. Blatstein questioned whether developers are 
required to submit fully approved plans from L&I or just schematics.  

Mr. Rodriguez clarified that only schematic plans are required. 

Mr. Blatstein urged the Board to clearly distinguish between what is formally required versus what 
is ideally preferred, especially as developers—many of whom are minorities participating in the 
Turn the Key program—are investing significant resources without guarantees of project approval. 
He suggested that clearer standards or a pre-approval process, potentially under Mayor Parker’s 
initiative, could help address the issue. 

Chair Wetzel thanked Mr. Blatstein for his comments and invited any final comments regarding old 
and new business. There were none. 

Item VII 
Adjournment 

Seeing no further comments from the Board or the public, Chair Wetzel called for a motion to 
adjourn. 

Mr. Beauvais moved to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Jeremiah seconded the motion.   

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 11:26 a.m. 

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 37 of 126



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 12 of 48 

 
PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 

 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, April 8, 2025, at 10:00 AM. 
 

User Name 
Justin Veasey 

Mark Frog Harris 
Alley Moorhead 
Jeremy Blatstein 
Melinda Madison 
Antonio Cerqueira 
Anthony Fullard 
Phyllis Millhouse 

Danielle Carson-Varns 
Kim Caruth 

David Slinger 
Taylor De La Pena 

Jacquelyn Sims 
Peter Barnard 

Mike Tomasetti 
Brennan Tomasetti 
Thomas Holloman 

David Langlieb 
 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 38 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 13 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 39 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 14 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 40 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 15 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 41 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 16 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 42 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 17 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 43 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 18 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 44 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 19 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 45 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 20 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 46 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 21 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 47 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 22 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 48 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 23 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 49 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 24 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 50 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 25 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 51 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 26 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 52 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 27 of 48 

 
 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 53 of 126



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 28 of 48 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 54 of 126



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 29 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 55 of 126



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 30 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 56 of 126



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 31 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 57 of 126



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 32 of 48 

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 58 of 126



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 33 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 13 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546, 1610 AND 1613 OGDEN STREET; 

863 N. 15TH STREET; 841, 845 AND 851 N. 16TH STREET  
TO PHILADELPHIA HOUSING DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to the terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interest of the Land Bank to convey 1437 Ogden Street, 1438 Ogden Street, 1539 Ogden Street, 1544 
Ogden Street, 1546 Ogden Street, 1610 Ogden Street, 1613 Ogden Street, 863 North 15th Street, 841 
North 16th Street, 845 North 16th Street, and 851 North 16th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to 
the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation (“PHDC”) for disposition, reuse and/or 
management as determined by PHDC. 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to PHDC for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved. 
 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-
404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 59 of 126

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


Exhibit D 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 34 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 14 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION 2024-21 TO REVISE UNIT SALES PRICE AND 
MAXIMUM INCOME ELIGIBILITY LEVEL FOR HOMEOWNERSHIP UNITS 

CONSTRUCTED ON 423-27 AND 429-39 E. ASHMEAD STREET; 226, 260, 278 AND 313 E. 
BRINGHURST STREET; 49 E. EARLHAM STREET; 4635 GERMANTOWN AVENUE;  

30 GOOD STREET; 5608, 5618, 5619, 5642 AND 5669 HEISKELL STREET; 4946 KEYSER 
STREET; 5514, 5515 AND 5642 MORTON STREET; 6672 AND 6674 MUSGRAVE STREET; 

53 E. PASTORIUS STREET; 207 E. PENN STREET; 248 E. PHIL ELLENA STREET; 42 AND 
44 REGER STREET; 35 E. SEYMOUR STREET; 227, 261 AND 263 E. SHARPNACK 

STREET; 218, 326, 342 AND 343 SHEDAKER STREET; 4951, 4957, 4961 AND 4975 SHELDON 
STREET; 111 AND 112 E. SPRINGER STREET; 4925 AND 5222 WAKEFIELD STREET 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code (the “Code”); 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”), pursuant to Resolution 2024-21 adopted 
on June 11, 2024, approved the conveyance of 423-27 and 429-39 East Ashmead Street; 226, 260, 
278 and 313 East Bringhurst Street; 49 East Earlham Street; 4635 Germantown Avenue; 30 Good 
Street; 5608, 5618, 5619, 5642 and 5669 Heiskell Street; 4946 Keyser Street; 5514, 5515 and 5642 
Morton Street; 6672 and 6674 Musgrave Street; 53 East Pastorius Street; 207 East Penn Street; 248 
East Phil Ellena Street; 42 and 44 Reger Street; 35 East Seymour Street; 227, 261 and 263 East 
Sharpnack Street; 218, 326, 342 and 343 Shedaker Street; 4951, 4957, 4961 and 4975 Sheldon Street; 
111 and 112 East Springer Street; and 4925 and 5222 Wakefield Street to Civetta Property Group 
LLC (the “Purchaser”) for the development of fifty-eight (58) single-family homeownership units, to 
be sold to households with an income at or below eighty percent (80%) of Area Median Income 
(“AMI”) (the “Maximum Income Eligibility Level”) for a price not to exceed $250,000 (the 
“Maximum Sale Price”); 

WHEREAS, the rapidly rising cost of construction materials and construction financing and 
the compliance costs related to the recent implementation of new Code regulations have led to 
increases in development and construction costs; 

WHEREAS, the Developer has requested an increase in the Maximum Sale Price for the 
affordable homeownership units to $280,000 to cover the additional development and construction 
costs for each unit; 

WHEREAS, an increase in the Maximum Sale Price requires that the Maximum Income 
Eligibility Level for the homes be raised from eighty percent (80%) of AMI to one hundred percent 
(100%) of AMI in order to conform to the Turn the Key program parameters; 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to 
approve an increase in the Maximum Sale Price from $250,000 to $280,000 and an increase in the 
Maximum Income Eligibility Level from eighty percent (80%) of AMI to one hundred percent 
(100%) of AMI;   

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 60 of 126

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


Exhibit D 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 35 of 48 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 
Philadelphia Land Bank that: 

 
1. An increase in the Maximum Sale Price for the affordable homes from $250,000 to $280,000 and 

an increase in the Maximum Income Eligibility Level from eighty percent (80%) of AMI to one 
hundred percent (100%) of AMI are in the best interests of the Land Bank and are hereby approved, 
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  
 

2. The approved revisions comply with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of the 
Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the approved revisions (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) 
and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction 
Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and 
any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions 
as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the 
terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute 
the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 61 of 126



Exhibit E 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 36 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 15 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION 2024-48 TO REVISE UNIT SALES PRICE  
AND MAXIMUM INCOME ELIGIBILITY LEVEL FOR HOMEOWNERSHIP UNITS 

CONSTRUCTED ON 1520-40 WEST VENANGO STREET AND 
1600-20 WEST VENANGO STREET 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code (the “Code”); 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”), pursuant to Resolution 2024-48 adopted 
on October 8, 2024, approved the conveyance of 1520-40 West Venango Street and 1600-20 West 
Venango Street to Civetta Property Group LLC (the “Purchaser”) for the development of twenty-two 
(22) single-family homeownership units, to be sold to households with an income at or below eighty 
percent (80%) of Area Median Income (“AMI”) (the “Maximum Income Eligibility Level”) for a 
price not to exceed $250,000 (the “Maximum Sale Price”); 

WHEREAS, the rapidly rising cost of construction materials and construction financing and 
the compliance costs related to the recent implementation of new Code regulations have led to 
increases in development and construction costs; 

WHEREAS, the Developer has requested an increase in the Maximum Sale Price for the 
affordable homeownership units to $280,000 to cover the additional development and construction 
costs for each unit; 

WHEREAS, an increase in the Maximum Sale Price requires that the Maximum Income 
Eligibility Level for the homes be raised from eighty percent (80%) of AMI to one hundred percent 
(100%) of AMI in order to conform to the Turn the Key program parameters; 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to 
approve an increase in the Maximum Sale Price from $250,000 to $280,000 and an increase in the 
Maximum Income Eligibility Level from eighty percent (80%) of AMI to one hundred percent 
(100%) of AMI;   

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. An increase in the Maximum Sale Price for the affordable homes from $250,000 to $280,000 and 
an increase in the Maximum Income Eligibility Level from eighty percent (80%) of AMI to one 
hundred percent (100%) of AMI are in the best interests of the Land Bank and are hereby approved, 
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  
 

2. The approved revisions comply with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of the 
Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 62 of 126

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


Exhibit E 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 37 of 48 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 
hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the approved revisions (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) 
and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction 
Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and 
any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions 
as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the 
terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute 
the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

 
 

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 63 of 126



Exhibit G 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 38 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 16 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 100 EMILY STREET, 2315 SOUTH 
MARSHALL STREET, 519 PIERCE STREET, 2549 SOUTH 3RD STREET, AND 2117 

SOUTH 6TH STREET TO BVG S PHILADELPHIA AH, LLC 
 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 100 Emily Street, 2315 South Marshall Street, 518 Pierce 
Street, 2549 South 3rd Street, and 2117 South 6th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to BVG S 
Philadelphia AH, LLC (the “Purchaser”). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Five Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($5,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 
by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 64 of 126



Exhibit G 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 39 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 17 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
1610 S. 56TH STREET TO DMCV, LLC 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 1610 South 56th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to 
DMCV, LLC (the “Purchaser”). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Three Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($3,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 
by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 65 of 126



Exhibit H 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 40 of 48 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 66 of 126



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 41 of 48 

 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 67 of 126



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 42 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 68 of 126



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 43 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 69 of 126



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 44 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 70 of 126



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 45 of 48 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 71 of 126



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 46 of 48 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 72 of 126



Exhibit J 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 47 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 18 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 4947-49, 4951, 4953, 4955, 4957, 4967,  
4969-73, 4979, 4981, 4983, 4985, 4987, 4989, 4989½, 4991 AND 4991½ WEST GIRARD AVENUE 

TO CATHEDRAL PARK HOMES, LP 
 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 4947-49, 4951, 4953, 4955, 4957, 4967, 4969-73, 4979, 4981, 
4983, 4985, 4987, 4989, 4989½, 4991 and 4991½ West Girard Avenue (collectively, the “Property”) 
to Cathedral Park Homes, LP (the “Purchaser”). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Nineteen and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($19.00) 

is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution 
of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 73 of 126



Exhibit J 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for April 8, 2025  Page 48 of 48 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 19 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
1412, 1416, 1421, 1429 AND 1435 N. 17TH STREET  

TO PATHWAYS HOUSING WELLNESS CORPORATION 
 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the 
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 
Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of 
the Land Bank to convey 1412, 1416, 1421, 1429 and 1435 North 17th Street (collectively, the 
“Property”) to Pathways Housing Wellness Corporation (the “Purchaser”). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank that: 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Five and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($5.00) is in the 

best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of 
Philadelphia City Council. 

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 

of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time 
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may 
be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the 
Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on April 8, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for May 13, 2025 Page 74 of 126




